
City of Tucumcari 
City Commission Meeting Minutes 

September 26, 2013 
 

 
The Tucumcari City Commission met in a regular meeting on Thursday, September 26, 2013, at 
6:00 p.m. in the City Commission Chambers, Members present constituting a quorum were, 
Mayor Amiel Curnutt, Ernest Dominguez, Jr., Robert Lumpkin, Jimmy Sandoval and Dora 
Salinas-McTigue. 
 
City Staff members present were;  Doug Powers, City Manager; Charlie Sandoval, Assistant City 
Manager; Angelica Gray, City Clerk; Dennis Dysart, Finance Director; Vicki Strand, 
Community Development Director; Jessica Elebario, Senior Center Director; Jason Braziel, 
Chief of Police; and Michael Rivera, Interim Wastewater Supervisor. 

 
Doug Powers led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance.   

Consideration of Changes for Deletions to the Agenda 
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve the agenda as written and Ms. Salinas-McTigue 
seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Sandoval Curnutt Dominguez Lumpkin Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 
Items from Commissioners  
 
Mr. Sandoval had no comment.  
 
Mr. Dominguez welcomed everyone this evening. 
 
Mr. Lumpkin also welcomed everyone for coming tonight.  He also reminded everyone that we 
have Fired Up happening this weekend.  He received a report from the City of Tucumcari 
Volunteer Animal Rescue Group.  They have been doing a great job.  We worked real hard to put 
together an animal policy for the City of Tucumcari.  The volunteers have been saving animals, 
which helps in two ways: It saves the animals lives and it saves the City money from putting the 
animals down.  They advertise these animals in towns near us.  We have a report that an actor 
from Santa Fe, Lou Diamond Phillips, adopted a Tucumcari dog, named Elvis.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue thanked everyone for coming tonight. 
 
Mayor Curnutt also thanked everyone for coming tonight and it’s nice to see a good crowd.  
 
Approval of Minutes  
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve the September 11, 2013, work session notes; approval 
of September 11, 2013, special work session notes; approval of September 11, 2013, commission 
meeting minutes; approval of September 12, 2013, commission meeting minutes; and approval 
of September 19, 2013, public hearing minutes as written and Ms. Salinas-McTigue seconded the 
motion. Roll Call: 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 2 

 
Dominguez Lumpkin Sandoval Curnutt Salinas-McTigue 
   Yes       Yes    Yes         Yes    Yes 
 
Items from Citizens 
 
Mr. Bob Beliau inquired on why the Rte. 66 Museum item was not on the agenda.  Ms. Gray 
stated that she had communication with Jim Lafferty and he stated he did not have his paperwork 
in order and would call her when he was ready to put it back on the agenda. 
 
No other comments from citizens. 
 
Ordinances or Resolutions 
 
Resolution 2013-27, Adopting & Submitting of an Infrastructure Capital Improvement 
Plan (ICIP) – Ms. Strand approached the commission and asked for their approval of the ICIP.  
This was reviewed during the public hearing on September 19, 2013.  Mr. Powers stated the only 
change on the plan was the price for project #1.  
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve Resolution 2013-27 and also as for a point of 
clarification, this is basically our priorities for the City of Tucumcari.  The #1 project is a trash 
compactor for the landfill.  The landfill will last longer if the trash is compacted properly.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue inquired about the year stated on the document.  She asked if this is what 
the commissioners are approving for 2015.  Mr. Powers stated that the way it is set up, they will 
take these and the Legislature and that goes out to the senators and representatives.  Although it 
states 2015, it means for this upcoming year during the 2014 session.  Ms. Salinas-McTigue 
asked if it could be changed and Mr. Powers stated that it can be changed at any time during the 
year.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue seconded the motion to approve Resolution 2013-27.  Roll-Call: 
 
Lumpkin Sandoval Dominguez Curnutt Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 
Resolution 2013-28, Resolution Amending Procurement Process of the City of Tucumcari – 
Ms. Gray explained to the commission that due to the state law regarding small purchases was 
amended from $20,000 to $60,000 this resolution is reflecting the change.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve Resolution 2013-28 and Ms. Salinas-McTigue 
seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Dominguez Lumpkin Curnutt Sandoval Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes     Yes     Yes    Yes    Yes 
 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 3 

City Manager Report 
 
Mr. Powers informed the commission that he attended the airport manager’s meeting in Ruidoso.  
He congratulated Steve Stephenson who received the manager of the year award.  Tucumcari 
also received an award for their participation with the Centennial Tour.   
 
At the last meeting, the commission approved the FAA project and that was signed and sent in.   
 
On the water meter project we submitted the warranty information to our City Attorney and he 
wanted some changes and those were corrected as of today.  He received a letter from the 
company guaranteeing full warranty on the meters. 
 
Donzil Worthington from Forsgren Engineering, did the final walk through on the Daubs 
Addition Project.  They had a couple of items that needed to be corrected.  Overall, Mr. 
Worthington was satisfied with the project. 
 
Mr. Powers stated he went through the railroad depot project.  He thinks once again, there were a 
few things that needed to be repaired on the concrete.  Overall, he thinks they did a good job.   
 
As for the landfill, we have the bid and contract on the agenda tonight for approval.  They have 
come in and they have a real aggressive construction schedule for the landfill.  It looks like the 
second cell will be completed by November 1st.  We have started hauling a few loads of trash to 
Clovis.  That has been going on for about a week.  With this aggressive schedule, that will really 
help out.   
 
Also he has visited with City Attorney, Randy Knudson and he has started depositions for our 
City/RAD lawsuit.  He seems to be positive on the matter.  
 
In addition, he wanted to thank Charlie Sandoval who has been working with Kyle Harwood to 
get our diversion numbers on our City wells straightened out.  The one we had concerns about 
still has a 9,000,000 gallon edge on it.   
 
He stated to the commission that they are all aware that Lopez Farms protested our application 
on our water wells that we moved a number of years ago.  That was dismissed this morning.  The 
next stage is to have them permitted.   
 
The commissioners have been talking about employee evaluations.  We have sent those out and 
we have received them for our employees.  He is in the process of meeting with department 
heads and signing off on them.  As far as he knows, this might be the first time evaluations have 
taken place within the City. 
 
He attended the RPO meeting yesterday, Northeast Regional Planning and Organization meeting.   
 
He met with CJ Wiegel, from Tucumcari General Insurance and representatives from Travelers 
Insurance.  They were real positive on our insurance claims, workman’s comp and damages are 
way down.  
 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 4 

We have the Cemetery Board here today.  We are continuing to work on the Cemetery.  He has 
made the commitment to start walking through the cemetery with Harold Horlacher.  We will 
start identifying sections that need work.  He does appreciate the Board working with the City. 
 
Status update regarding Wastewater Facility presented by Acting Supervisor, Michael Rivera 

Michael Rivera is acting wastewater treatment plant.  He stated things are going good at the 
treatment plant.  He stated the superintendent passed away the first of July.  He and his three 
operators have stepped up and he told the commission that the treatment plant is in good hands.  
They have taken up more responsibilities and they are making sure the plant is operating like it 
should be.  They haven’t violated any permit limits and our reports for the last three months have 
been good.  They make sure that they abide by all the rules and regulations imposed by the State 
and Federal Laws.   
 
He stated that he has just a couple of issues he wants to address with the commission.   First, he 
wants to see if we can get together and get these issues solved.  Some of the issues have been 
going on for a while and it will take support from the whole community to get these issues 
solved and protect this treatment plant. 
 
One issue is the equipment.  This equipment removes dirt, grit and sand from the plant.  It’s 
supposed to remove it before it gets to the main part of the plant.  
 
He found an inspection report from 2007 and it states that this equipment has been down since 
then.  They City might need to get a professional electrician but we need to get it done or it will 
ruin the rest of the plant.   
 
The other issue we have is that the discharge from the Cheese Factory has been effecting us a 
little more than what it did with the old plant.  With our new plant, the microorganisms that treat 
the wastewater are more sensitive to the discharge and it seems that the discharge is increasing.  
Once in a while it will overwhelm the plant and it puts the plant in danger of violating the permit 
rules that have been set forth for the plant.    
 
He thinks it is time to contact management at Cheese Factory and let them know that we need to 
change things.  We do not want the government to come down on the Cheese Factory and the 
City.   
 
Hopefully in the future and us working with management at the Cheese Factory, we can establish 
a pretreatment process.  
 
Last winter we had a difficult time with the discharge.  It’s during this time the discharge takes 
over.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue asked Mr. Rivera what Mr. Powers said to him on how he was addressing 
with issue Chuck at the Cheese Factory.  Mr. Rivera stated they are trying to get a pretreatment 
ordinance in order and maybe control and regulate the discharge.  This issue still needs to be 
addressed.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue stated that she read a report from the lab and it stated that the lab is great 
on their reports.  However, the wastewater treatment facility still has not addressed the problems.  



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 5 

She asked Mr. Rivera if anything had been fixed from a couple or several years ago.  She asked 
what help is he getting to fix these exceptions.   
 
Mr. Rivera stated this was another issue.  What he seen on one of the line items, is that we have 
$7,500 for equipment maintenance.  In his opinion, that is not enough.  If one pump goes out it 
will cost that whole amount.  He has two pumps that are coming back soon and that will be a big 
cost.  Everything at this new treatment plant is costly.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue asked if he was getting estimates.  Mr. Rivera answered that he has not 
received any quotes for the pumps but it will cost in the range of $2,000-$5,000 each. 
 
Mr. Powers added that Mr. Rivera has been working on this and we signed the requisitions for 
the new UV bulbs which were $7,500, along with the sleeves.  We also signed the requisition for 
the touchscreen, which was $1800.00.  We have been working with HDR engineering and they 
suggested a small cluster type lift station, similar to what was done in Logan.  This would 
address this issue and hold the discharge.  He is hoping, after a discussion with Richard 
Primrose, he thought it was approved by EDC about 10 years for use of our EDC funds.  He has 
been unable to visit with Mr. Vanderpool to see if that was acceptable use of the funds. 
 
Mr. Powers stated the grit screen clarifier was discussed several times. He hopes he can find a 
manufacturer.  Before this meeting, he visited with Mr. Rivera and he informed him that we have 
great mechanics and possibly they can go to the plant and find out what’s wrong with it. 
 
Mr. Powers stated that he and Mr. Rivera discussed contacting Charlie Aragon, an electrician, 
coming out.  He has worked on the plant in the past.  Mr. Rivera stated that he did not have the 
opportunity to visit with Mr. Aragon.   
 
Mr. Powers stated that we are addressing a lot of those issues.  Mr. Rivera and his staff are doing 
a good job at the plant.  There are issues that have been there for a number of years but they are 
moving to correct them.   
 
Mr. Rivera asked if we could increase our budget numbers for increase maintenance costs and if 
he could hire a couple of employees.  He and his staff are having a difficult time keeping up with 
their duties, which include the treatment plant, the lift stations and the reuse ponds and pumps, 
lines and valves associated with that.  He hopes in the future, they can plan to put more money in 
the budget to get him the help to do the proper operation and maintenance and get the plant to 
run as scheduled for the next 20 years or so.   
 
Mr. Rivera stated he looks forward to speaking to the commission on getting these issues solved.  
EPA came for an inspection last month.  He gave me an inspection report and he will be 
providing a copy to the commission in their box.  He did give us good marks on several items.  
But he also wrote us up on repeat violations and one was lack of man power and our equipment 
being down.   
 
He used to come less frequently, but since we had repeat violations, he stated that he would be 
returning yearly.  Mr. Rivera stated that if he’s there next year, he wants to show him that we 
took action on getting these issues resolved.   
 
He thanked the commission for their time and he is willing to answer any questions.   



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 6 

 
Mr. Powers asked Mr. Rivera to inform the commission that we have had several discussions 
about the discharge operating from a major and possibly converting that into a minor.  Mr. 
Rivera stated that during the last inspection, the inspector from EPA informed him that they are 
classifying the facility as a major facility. What that means, is that there classifying it based on 
the amount of water the facility can handle.  Our plant can pump 1.2 million gallons per day.  
Right now he is handling approximately 500,000 gallons per day.  Mr. Rivera stated that he 
discussed with Mr. Powers that he wants to get the plant down to a minor facility due to it 
helping with the rules and regulations that are imposed.  He’s hoping that he and Mr. Powers can 
get something going with the engineer and we can change the necessary documents to a minor 
facility.   
 
Mr. Powers stated that right now we are comparative to Albuquerque or Las Cruces and that’s 
not what we are.  He said we have never discharged 1,000,000 gallons from this facility.  He’s 
not sure how that classification occurred.  It seems that we have an avenue to adjust that and then 
probably help us with the reporting requirements.    
 
Mr. Dominguez asked what would have to take place to change from a major to a minor.  Mr. 
Powers answered that he has talked to engineers from HDR and he has asked that Mr. Rivera 
provide him with the discharge numbers, which he believes has been done.  Once he has 
reviewed the numbers he will provide us with a justification.  Mr. Powers thinks that even if we 
get the Racino and the extra motels, we would have to double our output and we would still be 
less than 1,000,000 gallons.  It is an option we are looking at and he thinks it will help out the 
treatment plant and make the operation a lot easier and get us to where we should be.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue asked what benefit would we have if we do that? Mr. Rivera stated that 
since we are classified as a majority they want us to apply for an industrial permit and they are 
costly.  It will save us from having to deal with the government, the lease amount possible.   
 
 
Bids and Contracts 
 
Request of Approval of ALTSD Capital Outlay Contract 2014-1189 – Ms. Elebario stated 
this is the first of six contracts that she will be receiving from the Aging and Long Term Services 
Department capital outlay Department.  All of her grants will equal up to $155,000 dollars.  This 
is for code compliance, renovation, new equipment and the purchase of a hot shot vehicle for our 
home delivery meals.  This first contract was expedited on our behalf because of the damage to 
the roof at the Senior Center.  Rebecca Martinez, Bureau of Chief, expedited this for the amount 
of $25,000.  The RoofCare Company has assured her that this temporary fix will hold the roof 
over for two years until the $200,000 grant will be approved by capital outlay to complete a new 
roof for the Senior Center.  It’s a huge cost and they have assured us that this patch will work.  
The only problem with the contract, Exhibit 3, there are grant conditions that must be met before 
they fully execute the contract.  That is in regards the City of Tucumcari fiscal year 2012 budget.  
She spoke to Angelica Gray and she stated that there will be a procurement code adopted tonight.  
In addition, she visited with Dennis Dysart regarding budget and capital asset inventory findings.  
He stated there were none but the contract said there were material weaknesses and deficiencies.  
Mr. Dysart informed her there were none in the audit.  She then responded to the State and she is 
waiting for a response back from the Chief regarding the further documentations they need.   
 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 7 

As for RoofCare Company, she has them on standby until the contract is complete.   
 
Mr. Powers added that he and Mr. Dominguez visited numerous times regarding this item.  He 
appreciates Ms. Elebario getting this taken care of.  Once approved, and the State approves, we 
can give our contractor the go ahead and start the repairs.   
 
Mr. Powers stated that after the roof has been repaired, he will have the maintenance department 
go in and repair the sheetrock and the ceiling.  This is something that needs to get done and he 
hopes the commission acts on it tonight. 
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue made the motion to approve the ALTSD Capital Outlay Contract 2014-
1189 and Mr. Dominguez seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Curnutt Dominguez Lumpkin Sandoval Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes     Yes 
 
Request for Approval off Contract Amendment #1 with NMAAA - Ms. Elebario presented 
this item.  She stated this is with Non-Metro Area Agency on Aging.  This is our contract 
agreement and anytime there is a change to the budget that was approved, there is a budget 
amendment.  The reason the amendment was done, is because we received less in-kind resources 
from the City of Tucumcari and she needed to adjust her unit cost and service.  Her budget took 
over a larger amount of different chargebacks from different departments, as mechanics and 
warehouse.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue made the motion to approve Contract Amendment #1 with NMAAA and 
Mr. Dominguez seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Sandoval Curnutt Dominguez Lumpkin Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 
Request for Approval of Amendment No. 1 for Sealcoat and Crack Fill Runway 3-21 – Mr. 
Powers filled in for Mr. Stephenson.  He referenced page No. 2 of the Contract which states the 
Division has granted the State funding to pay 95% of this project.  It is for the sealcoat and crack 
fill of runway 3-21.  The state will pay 95%, which is $364,505 and the City will pay 5%, which 
is $18,225.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve Amendment No. 1 for Sealcoat and Crack Fill 
Runway 3-21 and Ms. Salinas-McTigue seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Dominguez Lumpkin Sandoval Curnutt Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 
Request for Approval of Engineer’s Agreement with Forsgren Associates, Inc., for 
Transmission Line Project – Ms. Strand stated this agreement is between Forsgren Associates 
for the plans and specs for the transmission lines, which is a $2.2 million grant.  The plans and 
specs need to be completed and turned in by November 1, 2013.  The engineer’s budget is 
$230,000 and we will have to put out a request for proposal for the remainder $190,000.   
 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 8 

Mr. Powers stated the approval of this agreement will allow us to meet the deadline that they 
have set for us to receive the $2.2 million, which is part of the transmission line coming in from 
the Five Mile Park.  This will be our first step.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve the Engineer’s Agreement with Forsgren Associates, 
Inc. and Ms. Salinas-McTigue seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Lumpkin Sandoval Dominguez Curnutt Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes     Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 
Request for Approval of Bid with Max Tek Construction, Inc. for Landfill Cell 2 Project – 
Mr. Powers stated that in the commission’s packet they will see the award letter to Max Tech.  
The bid tabulation states that we received bids from New Image Construction, Inc. and Max 
Tech Inc. for the Landfill Cell 2 project.  Max Tech bid was slightly below the engineers 
estimate.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue stated that she read the bid and she did not see where it states that Max 
Tech will use a percent of our local labor nor subcontracting any work to local companies.  She 
would like to table this item and perhaps we can contact Max Tech.  This bid is for $485,000 and 
is a significant amount of money to award to a company that will not be hiring any local people.  
She suggested this be tabled until the next meeting at which time maybe a representative from 
this company can tell us why they omitted to put the language where they will hire locals.  She 
stated not only are they asking for an approval of the bid, but also for the contract and she has 
reviewed that as well and she did not see the language.  
 
Mr. Powers stated this matter was put out to bid and it was advertised in the local newspaper as 
well as in the Albuquerque Journal.  He couldn’t tell the commission why this language was 
omitted but stated that the primary bidder was not a dirt work operations such as Versatile or 
Pacheco’s Construction.  The primary bidder in this project was a liner installer.  That gets it to a 
real specific type of contracting company.  He did not think there were subcontractors listed.  He 
didn’t think that local contractors could actually bid on this project due to the liner, which lines 
the cell.  We have to haul trash to Clovis right now and a two-week delay would be a cost factor 
to the City.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue stated the cost is adding up right now if we are having to haul to Clovis 
anyway.  What she is asking from Max Tech is to step up and use our local people.  She stated 
they will need labor.  She suggested that in all future requests for proposals we need to add that 
the vendors consider using our local people and subcontractors.  Although this may be a 
specialized project, she is sure they will bring their employees.  She doesn’t think two weeks will 
make that much difference since the trash is already being hauled to Clovis.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin asked Mr. Powers how much is it costing to haul to Clovis.  Mr. Arias stated that it 
is costing our truck to fuel up every day, twice a day at  $130 - $180.  To haul to Clovis, it is 
costing $230 a load and we are using three trucks.  Mr. Lumpkin stated that every day that we 
delay it will cost taxpayers.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin suggested that the commission vote to approve this contract with the stipulation 
that Mr. Powers will ask Max Tech to hire local people.  Mr. Powers stated he will recommend 
that to the company. 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 9 

 
Mr. Lumpkin stated the landfill is an ongoing project and we are having to constantly upgrade 
and add new cells.  He thinks our leverage would be that we have future contract, with the 
language and not to disregard our requests to hire local people.  He understands what Ms. 
Salinas-McTigue is saying.  We want them to hire local contractors.   
 
Mr. Powers stated both contractors received the 5% New Mexico preference, which means they 
are both New Mexico contractors.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin does not want to charge our taxpayers $230 a day more than they have to pay.  
And the delay will cause that.  He asked if we could award this and have the discussion with 
Max Tech and let them know that we have good local people and if they need labor that fit the 
qualifications, to consider our local people.  Mr. Powers stated he is willing to set it up and 
willing to have any of the commissioners there to talk to the contractor.  We haven’t had the 
preconstruction yet.   
 
When Tucumcari stepped up and built this landfill project we set it up as a municipal but we 
have taken responsibility for this part of the State. 
 
Mr. Dominguez would like to see this language in writing that they will use at least local people.  
When we award bids out of town contractors, they take our money.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue stated the amount on the contract is for $493,846.88.  If Max Tech 
Construction won’t work with us, she suggested that Mr. Powers contact the next company and 
make sure they will work with us.  She stated we need to try.  Mr. Powers stated he appreciates 
that, however his concern is this project has already gone out to bid and we may not be able to 
modify that.  He would hate to reject these bids and readvertise this project again.  However, this 
is an issue that we could address with the City Attorney in the future and make sure we can 
require that they hire locals.  He knows that Commissioner Sandoval and himself had the same 
discussion when they visited with Mesalands.  Mr. Powers thinks we can add it in the bid 
documents in the future but he does not want to postpone this for another six weeks while we are 
waiting to rebid.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin stated that the bottom line is, this was put out for bid and this was the lowest bid.  
If we don’t accept it we may be liable.  If we don’t accept this bid we will be costing our 
taxpayers $230 per trip.  In addition, if the commission doesn’t accept it now, it will put off San 
Jon, Logan, and Santa Rosa from coming to our landfill when it’s complete and that is revenue 
for the City.  He stated that the commissioners are risking revenue for the City for our customers 
because we have the only landfill in the area.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin suggested that the commissioners, who would like this company to use our local 
employees, could attend a meeting and ask that they consider hiring locals and on the next 
contract we can add this language as a spec.   
 
Mr. Arias added that it would cost the City approximately $24,000 to delay this  
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve the Bid with the stipulation that Mr. Powers and the 
commissioners meet with Max Tech  and hire locals if possible. 
 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 10 

Mr. Sandoval stated he agrees with Ms. Salinas-McTigue, however if they have to, as Mr. 
Powers stated, to save the City money, if there are any contracts awarded in the future, there 
should be language added where they are to hire local people.  He thinks they should try to talk 
to them and try to keep our money in Tucumcari.  He knows there are issues with the landfill and 
it needs to get completed quick.  He again reiterated, for our future contracts they must specify 
that all contractors must hire locals.  Although he was going to agree with Ms. Salinas-McTigue 
to table this item, however if it’s going to cost the City money and Mr. Powers can talk to them 
along with one of the commissioners, it would be a good idea.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion with the stipulation that in the future we will add an addendum on 
specs that we hire local contractors that qualify for the positions.  In addition, that Mr. Powers 
and commissioners visit with Max Tech regarding hiring local people by the commission’s 
request, if possible.   
 
Mayor Curnutt asked Ms. Salinas-McTigue if she had a motion to table.  She stated that it was 
only a discussion.   
 
Mr. Dominguez seconded the motion with the stipulation.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue stated that the City needs to make it clear that if these companies want our 
monies, they will have to hire our local people and our local contractors.   
 
Mr. Powers added that Pacheco’s has worked on several of our projects including the Railroad 
project, both Versatile and Pacheco’s worked on the Daub’s Addition, Pacheco’s worked on the 
Whitmore project and we had them haul dirt at the landfill.  He stated that the City tries real hard 
to hire local contractors.  However, there are projects that are out of their area of expertise.  He 
assured the commissioners that he will work on that.   
 
Mr. Dominguez stated that Pacheco’s can haul dirt and he does not see why this company cannot 
subcontract the dirt hauling in this project.   
 
Curnutt Dominguez Lumpkin Sandoval Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes    No 
 
Request for Approval of Contract with Max Tek Construction, Inc., for Landfill Cell 2 
Project  - Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve the Max Tech contract with the same 
stipulation as the bid approval where they are to hire locals, if at all possible, and Mr. 
Dominguez seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Sandoval Curnutt Dominguez Lumpkin Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes     Yes    Yes    Yes    No 
 
New Business 
 
Request for Approval from Cemetery Advisory Board to pass a Moratorium Forbidding 
Planting of Trees/Bushes – Mr. Powers addressed the commissioners and stated he and Mr. 
Lumpkin attended the last cemetery board meeting.  Tucumcari has been in a drought for 13-14 
years and we have lost trees.  It has become an issue that we remove the dead vegetation.  What 
the cemetery advisory board asked that we move to put a moratorium on planting new trees.  He 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 11 

knows that when a tree is planted it requires a certain amount of attention.  In addition, in the 
past when it rained, although we have had more rain, it hasn’t always been that way.  What he 
asked the board to do was put a letter together and we would put it on the agenda for the 
commission and get an approval on the moratorium.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin added that this is a request that came from the cemetery advisory board.  The board 
has been working hard to get things done at the cemetery.  During the drought time, if the trees 
are not planted immediately the tree dies.  It is causing a lot of work for our cemetery employees.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin thanked Betty Cooper Coslett, who is the president and who prepared this letter, 
Cynthia Acker, Marion Payton, Harold Horlacher, and Bobbi White.  This board has worked 
hard trying to figure out what needs to get done.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin made a motion to approve the moratorium forbidding planting of trees/bushes. 
 
Mr. Sandoval suggested that if they want to plant trees and bushes they plant them along the 
fence instead of next to the graves.  Mr. Lumpkin stated that the moratorium would restrict the 
planting of trees.  He informed Mr. Sandoval that the trees growing over the graves, is on the list 
of things to work on.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue seconded the motion made by Mr. Lumpkin.  Roll Call: 
 
Dominguez Lumpkin Sandoval Curnutt Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes     Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 
Request for Approval of Funding for Main Street “Fired Up”, Rockabilly on the Route, 
and Bluegrass – Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve funding these organizations in an 
amount discussed at the last meeting.  He thinks the information that was requested at the last 
meeting has been presented.   
 
Mr. Dominguez stated that the group from Mainstreet “Fired Up” did provide the commission 
the accountability that was requested.  The only one that gave us what we requested was 
Mainstreet “Fired Up”.  They satisfied his request.   
 
Mr. Lake stated the $2,500 is being used for advertising in Clovis, Dalhart, and Santa Rosa.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin added that Mainstreet organization has brought over $1.5 million to this area from 
the State for the depot.  In addition, there is a micro grant loan for $120,000 that has also been 
brought to this area by Mainstreet.  The Mainstreet project was awarded to Tucumcari and if we 
do not support it, we might lose it and he does not want that to happen.   
 
Mr. Powers asked Mr. Dysart to explain the reimbursement process to the commission.  Mr. 
Dysart stated that reimbursement process comes from the Procurement Act in that the Lodger’s 
Tax is required to get applications and create a contract.  As to what we would pay, it would be 
approved through the commission.  In terms of the payment, once that contract comes through 
Lodgers Tax and procurement and signed off, he disburses the money.  He does not deal with the 
accountability issue of what they are spending the money on.   
 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 12 

Mr. Dominguez stated that was the reason why he asked for accountability.  In the past, he does 
not think anyone has asked to be accountable.   
 
Mr. Dysart agreed with Mr. Dominguez and he thinks its due diligence that they make sure that 
is getting done.  He stated that what is the purpose of Lodger’s Tax providing that.  As these 
organizations and events start funding themselves, Lodger’s Tax funding is to get them started. 
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to fund Mainstreet, Bluegrass and Rockabilly on the Route.   
 
Mayor Curnutt stated that Mr. Lumpkin’s motion died for lack of a second. 
 
Mr. Dominguez made the motion to approve funding to Mainstreet “Fired Up” for $2,500.00 and 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Dominguez Lumpkin Curnutt Sandoval Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 
Bob Balieu stated that in regards to the accountability aspect, the application asks what the 
organization plans on spending the money on.  It does specify where the money will be spent.  
We don’t get that money until we can prove that we spent the money, that’s the accountability 
aspect, which can’t be done until after the event takes place and they don’t get reimbursed until 
we can show where the money was spent. 
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue made the motion to approve funding to Rockabilly on the Route and 
Bluegrass in the amount of $1,000.  Mayor Curnutt asked for a second on the motion.   
 
Mr. Balieu stated that they submitted a 3 or 4 page report showing what will happen next year.  
This did not cost the City a penny this year, however; we did bring in 600 people to Tucumcari.  
He stated the City did benefit from the last event.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin added they did submit four pages that have bills for 2014.  Last year we didn’t 
appropriate any money but the event brought 600 people in and they hope to have double that for 
the next event.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin stated the money is available and according to the request it will bring people into 
Tucumcari.  He stated he wants to support these events that bring people from out of town.  If we 
appropriate the money and it does not work, we know they tried and at that point we could look 
at something different.   
 
Mayor Curnutt asked for a second on Ms. Salinas-McTigue’s motion to approve funding in the 
amount of $1,000 to Bluegrass and Rockabilly on the Route.  This motion died for lack of a 
second.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve funding to Rockabilly on the Route in the amount of 
$5,000.   
 
Mr. Dominguez stated the question that no one has been able to answer is that they have a lot of 
entertainment at $40.00 a person.  He stated that the fees they collected at the door for 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 13 

entertainment, he asked where did the money go?  He knows that some of the money goes to 
entertainment but what happened to the remainder of the money? 
 
Mr. Balieu stated that the money from all ticket sales went to the entertainment and expenses for 
bands and promoters.  Several members of the Rockabilly donated their own personal money.  
He stated there was not a profit.  If we are not going to support this event, Rockabilly on the 
Route can go to Santa Rosa.  The Rockabilly on the Route organization want it to be in 
Tucumcari.   
 
Mayor Curnutt asked for a second on Mr. Lumpkin’s motion to fund Rockabilly on the Route in 
the amount of $5,000.  This motion died for lack of a second.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin stated he does not want to lose these activities and events that take place in 
Tucumcari.  He asked what it would take for an approval if they come back next time with how 
the money was spent and what each band charges, for example.   
 
Mr. Talley stated that for example, Wanda Jackson cost $3,500 plus transportation and expenses.   
 
Mayor Curnutt asked if that information had already been submitted to the Lodger’s Tax Board.  
Mr. Talley asked why would they submit that information.  He stated these bands do not come 
here for free.  Mayor Curnutt clarified that he thought Mr. Balieu had already submitted that 
information.  Mr. Talley stated that the only information that goes on the application is the 
money that is being seeked and what that money will be spent on.  Mr. Talley added that he does 
not think that some people are understanding that this event brought in over $100,000 to this 
City, for Lodger’s Tax, gross receipts, etc.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin stated that the Lodger’s Tax Board did due diligence on appropriating this money 
and the Board approved $5,900 for this and then asked the commission to grant the money.  Mr. 
Lumpkin stated we have it reduced to $5,000.  He asked if Mr. Dominguez and Mr. Balieu could 
meet and get the information he is asking for and after that meeting, possibly approve.  Mr. 
Dominguez stated he wants to know where the funds are going.  He understands that this event 
needs to be advertised.  However, it makes a difference for business people.  We have businesses 
that don’t get a piece of the pie and we need to bring people in so the entire community benefits.  
Mr. Talley stated that all hotels were full.  Mr. Dominguez does not believe it will make a 
difference whether they meet or not.  He does not want to pursue this, he’s had enough.   
 
Acknowledgment of §6-6-5 NMSA 1978, Record Approved Budget from Department of 
Finance and Administration Department – Mr. Dysart stated this is a state statue requirement.  
This is to be presented to DFA with the commissioner’s approval.   The acknowledgement needs 
to added into the minutes. 
 
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue made the motion to approve the State Statute 6-6-5 NMSA 978 Record 
approved Budget and Mr. Dominguez seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Dominguez Lumpkin Sandoval Curnutt Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 14 

Request for Approval of Ute Lake Water Study – Mr. Lumpkin stated that this was discussed 
earlier during the work session.  He explained that we have an organization called Ute Lake 
Water Commission and a new chairperson was elected, Mayor Lansford from Clovis.  In our 
discussion, we were concerned that Ute Lake Reservoir may not be a sustainable water source 
for the $500,000,000 project.  We would like to see an outside study that would review the 
amount of flow that comes from the reservoir and see if that project is sustainable.  We do not 
want to risk $500,000,000 on a project and the reservoir go dry and with out enough water to 
support the project.  There were eight out of twelve entities that asked that we have a study.  We 
currently have $1.5 million in a fund set aside, that is supported by a tax percentage for utilizing 
Ute Reservoir.  The study could cost approximately $50,000.  Before the study would be 
conducted, we would have to make sure the study is approved by Interstate Stream Commission 
and Ute Water Commission.  Tucumcari has 6,000 ac. ft. allocated to us from Ute Reservoir.  
Clovis has 12,000 and Portales 3,300 ac. ft and each entity has a percentage.  We were going to 
give $2.00 per 1,000 of our allocation to have the study done, which would cost Tucumcari 
approximately $12,000.   
 
We discussed also that the study may cost more than that.  With the conditions as they are, we 
have noticed the reservoir has not maintained for the last 13 years. The reservoir has lost an 
average of 3,000 ac. ft a year since 1999.  In 2011 and 2012 the reservoir lost 50,000 ac ft. to 
evaporation. Our concern is if they put the pipeline project in, and it drains the reservoir, the 
Project Drought Management Plan says that as soon as the reservoir starts to struggle back, the 
pumps will come back on.  We are trying to get an accurate study.  He is asking for an approval 
of $12,000 but there will be total accountability for that money to complete the study.  He is also 
asking that our engineer company write a letter and state that the study is needed.   
 
The engineer did prepare a model for us and it showed that if the conditions do not change the 
reservoir will not sustain the project.  Even if we approve this money, it may not be spent due to 
the majority of the entities..  There is a campaign going on right now to get people to not approve 
a new study.  The Eastern New Mexico Water Utility Authority has declared, at the last meeting, 
that they do not want a new study.  They have some votes in their group.  Interstate Stream 
Commission would also have to approve the study.  The next meeting is set for October 31, 2013 
and it will be discussed further.  However, we need approval prior to that meeting.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue asked if it was $12,000?  Mr. Lumpkin answered that it could be more 
howeve,r not more than $15,000 and if it is, it would have to be discussed further.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin made the motion to approve the Ute Lake Water Study and Ms. Salinas-McTigue 
seconded the motion.  Roll Call: 
 
Dominguez Lumpkin Sandoval Curnutt Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 15 

Items from Commissioners 
 
Mr. Sandoval stated this will be difficult but he wanted to thank Ms. Salinas-McTigue for 
sticking to her guns and he is proud of that.  He has been working with her closely.   
 
His main concern are the issues that have been going on for a long time.  It is difficult for him to 
do what he wants to do.  He stated that he has been ignored.   
 
The responsiveness to the commission, ignoring requests to the commissioners, and the 
commission must answer to the constituents.  Further he is asking that Mr. Powers contract be 
terminated effective September 26, 2013 for non performance.  Ms. Salinas-McTigue seconded.   
 
Mr. Dominguez stated that communications have been real sporadic.  We have not had enough 
communication with Mr. Powers.  We have talked about several things but we have not had any 
results.  He stated right now, if we are going to move further we need to have results within our 
City of Tucumcari, with the cemetery, wastewater treatment plant and other things that are 
important.  
 
Mr. Lumpkin stated that action items need to be put on the agenda as an action item.  We had an 
issue at the last meeting with a citizen who wanted us to take an action on the museum.  It was 
on the agenda as an action item so we couldn’t discuss it.  He does not want the citizens to deal 
with an improper action.  He asked that this vote be postponed and placed on the agenda.  He 
suggested it be in an executive session and then an action item after that.  He does not think 
proper parliamentary procedure to vote on this item if it is not on the agenda.  It is listed under 
comments from commissioners and it  says “ Discussion regarding commission/manager 
communication requested by Mayor pro Tem Jimmy Sandoval”.  He stated that discussion is an 
not action item but he could be wrong he would air caution.   
 
Ms. Salinas-McTigue stated she contacted an attorney and these kinds of issues are best when 
they are presented at an open meeting.  In an executive or closed session you cannot make a 
decision.  She stated it was properly presented at an open meeting and it can be voted on.  She 
stated that Mr. Sandoval made the motion and she seconded it.  She has comments from the 
attorney as to what we can use at this time, she is asking for the majority of these commissioners 
to take action and she could go on and on about what is lacking as far as the performance of our 
city manager but she has been stating this since last year when she became a commissioner.  She 
has asked questions and asked that things happen and nothing is happening.  She has lists that her 
mayor put together and some of her own and we are still talking about it.  With that said, the best 
thing we can do is terminate the City Manager, Douglas Powers contract and then go on.  She 
asked that we get a City Manager that will deal with all the commissioners plus do what is best 
for Tucumcari.  At this point, she does not see this happening.  The issues we have is non 
performance, and that says it all.   
 
Mayor Curnutt stated that he totally disagrees.  Even though there is a motion and a second, he 
thinks Mr. Powers has done an excellent job.  Although there are a few areas that we are lacking 
in with the wastewater, that got started because we had a manager that was sick.  The cemetery 
has changed, we have had a lot of issued there but he attributes that to someone else.  However, 
he thinks the commissioners are making a terrible mistake if they terminate City Manager 
Powers.  He couldn’t agree at all because I was here before and there is no comparison to the 



Commission Meeting Minutes  for 09/26/13 
Page 16 

cooperativeness we have had and the ability to go out and work with the citizens, businesses, and 
try to get things going.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin reiterated what the Mayor said.  He has been on the commission for quite a while 
and he has seen things improve. There will always be ways we can improve more but he sees 
things improving, gross receipts are up.  He thinks this is premature and he thinks disingenuous 
and he does not agree with it.  However, a motion has been made and seconded.   
 
Mayor Curnutt added that we need to check with the legality of this vote.  He doubts it is legal 
and stated this is totally under duress. 
 
Mr. Lumpkin also stated that he feels this is not parliamentary and he feels it could be a large 
mistake for two reasons.  First, it may not be legally proper and it sure may not be justifiable, 
Mayor Curnutt agreed. 
 
Mayor Curnutt asked for Roll Call: 
 
Dominguez Lumpkin Curnutt Sandoval Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes    No    No    Yes    Yes 
 
Charlie Sandoval stated that he resigns as Assistant City Manager.   
 
Mayor Curnutt stated that he thinks this is an abuse of authority and this was a witch hunt.  There 
are a lot of reasons why this happened that are not genuine.   
 
Mr. Lumpkin added that he still thinks that we should try to get the Rockabilly funded if at all 
possible. 
 
Adjournment 
 
Mayor Curnutt asked for a motion to Adjourn.  Mr. Lumpkin made a motion to adjourn and Ms. 
Salinas-McTigue seconded the motion. Roll Call: 
 
Curnutt Dominguez Lumpkin Sandoval Salinas-McTigue 
  Yes           Yes    Yes    Yes    Yes 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:48 p.m.   
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Amiel Curnutt, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Angelica M. Gray, City Clerk 


